N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF KANSAS
UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Plaintiff,
VS. Case No. 04-40104-01- RDR

CHRI STOPHER LEE GRI MES,

Def endant .

VEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This order is issued to record the court’s rulings upon
defendant’s pretrial notions following a hearing at which
evi dence was taken upon a notion to suppress.

There is a 12-count indictnent in this case. Counts 1, 2
and 3 al |l ege that on or about July 25, 2003, defendant illegally
possessed three different firearms (two rifles and a shotgun)
because: of a prior felony conviction (Count 1); a prior
donestic viol ence conviction (Count 2); and because he knew t hey
were stol en (Count 3).

Counts 4, 5 and 6 allege that on or about August 5, 2003,
defendant illegally possessed four different handguns because:
of a prior felony conviction (Count 4); a prior donestic
vi ol ence conviction (Count 5); and because he knew they were
stol en (Count 6).

Counts 7, 8 and 9 allege that on or about August 12, 2003,

defendant illegally possessed three different handguns because:



of a prior felony conviction (Count 7); a prior donmestic
viol ence conviction (Count 8); and because he knew they were
stol en (Count 9).

Counts 10, 11 and 12 allege that on or about Septenber 9,
2003, defendant illegally possessed three different firearns (an
assault rifle, a shotgun, and a revolver) because: of a prior
felony conviction (Count 10); a prior donestic violence
conviction (Count 11); and because he knew they were stolen
(Count 12).

Counts 1, 4, 7 and 10 allege a violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
922(9g)(1). Counts 2, 5, 8 and 11 allege a violation of 18
US C 8§ 922(g)(9). Counts 3, 6, 9 and 12 allege a viol ation of
18 U.S.C. § 922(j).

Apparently, the governnent will seek to prove in this matter
t hat defendant stole the firearns identified in the |ndictnent
fromhis grandfather’s house in Abilene, Kansas and pawned them
at | ocal shops in Salina, Kansas and the surroundi ng area.

MOTI ON FOR NOTI CE OF EVI DENCE (Doc. No. 23) and MOTION TO
DI SCLOSE EXPERT TESTI MONY (Doc. No. 24).

In light of the government’s response to these notions, the
court shall consider the notions to be noot.

MOTI ON FOR Bl FURCATED TRI AL (Doc. No. 22).

Def endant seeks to bifurcate the consideration of whether
def endant possessed the weapons in question from the
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consi deration of whether defendant was |egally precluded from
possessi ng the weapons. Based upon the holdings in U.S. V.

Dean, 76 F.3d 329, 332 (10" Cir. 1996) and U.S. v. Belk, 346

F.3d 305, 310 (2d Cir. 2003) cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1205 (2004),
the court shall deny the notion for bifurcated trial.

MOTI ON TO DI SM SS FOR LACK OF FEDERAL JURI SDI CTI ON ( Doc. No.
26) .

Def endant argues that one of the charging statutes, 18
US C 8§ 922(g), violates the Commerce Clause on its face and as
appl i ed. Def endant al so argues that the statute violates the
Tenth  Anmendnent. Much of defendant’s Commerce Clause

argunment ation derives fromU.S. v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549 (1995).

The Tenth Circuit has rejected these argunents. See U.S.

v. Farnsworth, 92 F.3d 1001, 1006 (10" Cir.) cert. denied, 519

U.S. 1034 (1996) (Commerce Clause); U.S. v. Dorris, 236 F.3d 582,

585-86 (10" Cir. 2000) cert. deni ed, 532 U. S. 986

(2001) (Commerce Clause); U.S. v. Baer, 235 F.3d 561, 563 (10t"

Cir. 2000) (Comrerce Cl ause and Tenth Amendnent); U.S. v. Bolton,

68 F.3d 396, 400 (10'" Cir. 1995) cert. denied, 516 U S. 1137

(1996) (Commerce Clause); U.S. v. Parker, 362 F.3d 1279, 1284-85

(10t" Cir. 2004)(Tenth Amendnent); see also, US. v. Napier, 233

F.3d 394, 404 (6'" Cir. 2000)(Tenth Amendnent).
On the basis of this authority, the court shall deny the
motion to dismss for lack of federal jurisdiction.
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MOTI ON TO DI SM SS (Doc. No. 32).
Thi s nmoti on seeks di sm ssal on the grounds that the charges
viol ate defendant’s rights under the Second Anmendnent. Thi s

argument was rejected by the Tenth Circuit in U.S. v. Parker

362 F.3d 1279, 1282-83 (10" Cir.) cert. denied, 125 S.Ct. 88

(2004) and U.S. v. Baer, 235 F.3d 561, 564 (10" Cir. 2000)

Def endant has al so made an equal protection argunent. Thi s
argument has been rejected by many courts including the Fifth

Circuit in US. v. Darrington, 351 F.3d 632, 634-35 (5" Cir

2003) cert. denied, 541 U.S. 1080 (2004). Based on this
authority, the court rejects defendant’s notion to dism ss.

MOTI ON TO DI SM SS | NDI CTMENT OR REQUI RE ELECTI ON OF COUNTS
(Doc. No. 27).

This nmotion asks the court to dism ss the indictnment or
require the government to elect the counts upon which it wl
proceed on the grounds of nmultiplicity. The governnent
recogni zes that defendant should not receive cumulative
sentences if he is convicted on sone of the counts. But, the
governnment asserts that it should be allowed to go to trial on
all of the counts and then make adjustnents at the tine of
sentencing to assure that defendant isn’t punished tw ce for the
same of f ense.

The court has exam ned the case of U.S. v. Johnson, 130 F. 3d

1420, 1425-26 (10th Cir. 1997) cert. denied, 525 U. S. 829 (1998),

4



which is cited by both sides. Upon review of that case and
ot hers, the court shall deny the notion to dism ss or to require
t he governnment to el ect which counts to bring.

MOTI ON TO SUPPRESS (Doc. No. 30).

Def endant has filed this notion arguing that statenents he
made to federal officers should be suppressed because of
violations of the Mranda rule and the Due Process Clause. The
government contends that defendant was not in custody when he
made the statenments and that the statenments were vol untary.

M randa warnings do not need to be admnistered if the

person answering questions is not in “custody.” U.S. v. Rogers,

391 F.3d 1165, 1169 (10" Cir. 2004). The Tenth Circuit

di scussed “in custody” requirenent in Rogers:

A person is not “in custody” for Mranda purposes
unl ess his “freedomof actionis curtailed to a degree
associated with formal arrest.” Berkemer v. MQCarty,
468 U.S. 420, 440, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 82 L.Ed.2d 317
(1984) (quotation omtted). The “in custody”

determnation is based on how a reasonable person
woul d understand the situation. 1d. at 442, 104 S. Ct.
3138. This reasonabl e person “does not have a guilty
state of mnd and does not have peculiar nental or
enotional conditions that are not apparent to the
guestioning officer. [United States v. Erving L., 147
F.3d 1240, 1247 (10" Cir. 1998).]

| d.
The court heard evidence on this matter from Kelly Etnier,

a special agent for the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and

Firearnms. Etnier testified that he and anot her agent travel ed



to Abilene, Kansas on Decenber 11, 2003 because they knew

def endant was appearing in state court and they wanted to speak

with him Def endant was appearing in state court on a
m sdeneanor char ge. He was not in custody and he was
represented by counsel. Hi s appearance was part of a genera
docket call. So, the courthouse was crowded.

Etnier testified that he and the other agent approached
def endant after he left the courtroom Defendant was speaking
with his probation officer as they approached him They were
dressed casually. They were arned, but did not exhibit their
weapons or denonstrate any force or threats. The agents told
def endant who they were and asked to speak with him Defendant
agreed to speak to the agents, and a room was arranged off of
the courtroom The agents expl ained to defendant that he had no
obligation to speak with them and defendant indicated that he
understood. They further expl ained that they were i nvestigating
t he sal e, pawni ng and possessi on of firearms which once bel onged
to defendant’ s grandfather. Def endant was alone in the room
with the two agents. The door to the roomwas |eft open.

At the beginning of the interview, defendant’s attorney on
t he m sdenmeanor charge entered the room The agents expl ai ned
what was happening and that it was a crimnal investigation

whi ch was unrel ated to the ni sdenmeanor charge. They did not say



t hat def endant was a suspect in the investigation. The attorney
asked defendant if it was alright if he left. Defendant waved
the attorney off and i ndicated that the attorney had defendant’s
perm ssion to | eave.

During the i nterview, defendant admtted that he had a prior
conviction for burglary, although he Ilabeled it crimnal
trespass. Def endant said he received the firearnms as an
i nheritance. In general, defendant was cooperative. The
interview lasted 10 to 15 m nutes. Defendant said he needed to
| eave so he could go to work and that his wife was driving him
The interview was term nated at defendant’s instigation.

Foll owi ng the i ntervi ew, def endant approached Et ni er out si de
t he courthouse. He wanted to know where the investigation was
goi ng and seened concerned about the trouble he could be in if
hi s probation officer | earned about his possession of firearns.
He said he wanted to get rid of the guns. Et ni er asked
def endant’ s wi fe about selling or pawning the firearns. She did
not seemto recall the situation and said she was ill and needed
to |l eave. Defendant then left with his wfe.

We find no Mranda violation on these facts. Defendant was
not “in custody” for purposes of the Mranda rule. He was not
under arrest or restrained. He agreed to be questioned by the

federal agents in the courthouse. The interview was relatively



short and was term nated at his request. Def endant agreed not
to have his attorney with himduring the interview. There was
no show of force or coercion by the agents. Def endant
voluntarily approached Etnier after the interview was concl uded
and continued the discussion regarding the firearns. He was
again able to | eave when he w shed. These facts denonstrate
that the Mranda rule was not violated by the federal agents.

Cf., US. v. Bennett, 329 F.3d 769, 774-75 (10" Cir. 2003) (when

def endant was released from detention in handcuffs during
execution of a search warrant and told he was not under arrest
and did not have to answer questions prior to being asked at his
resi dence about a firearm silencer found during the search,
def endant was not in custody for Mranda purposes); U.S. v.
Lenni ck, 917 F.2d 974, 977-78 (7" Cir. 1990) (brief questioning
of person attending trial at courthouse as a spectator regarding
ownership of firearmdid not trigger Mranda requirenents).

Def endant al so makes an argunment that his statenents shoul d
be suppressed because they were mde against his wll.
Def endant makes reference to 18 U S.C. § 3501 as part of his
argument. We reject this argunent for two reasons. First, we
do not find that the statenents were nmade agai nst defendant’s
will. No force or coercion was applied to defendant. He

voluntarily made the statenents to the federal agents. Second,



it has been held that the provisions of § 3501 do not apply to

statements made i n noncustodi al situations. U.S. v. Stevens, 83

F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir.) cert. denied, 519 U S. 902 (1996); U.S. v.

Nel son, 984 F. Supp. 1368, 1373 (D. Kan. 1997).

In sum we find no constitutional violation or federa
statutory violation in the questioning of defendant. Therefore,
the notion to suppress shall be deni ed.

I T 1S SO ORDERED

Dated this 17th day of June, 2005 at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Richard D. Rogers
United States District Judge



